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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholders of Yellow Pages Limited
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yellow Pages Limited (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at
December 31, 2025 and 2024, and the consolidated statements of income and other comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2025 and 2024,
and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with IFRS® Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards (“Canadian GAAS”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2025. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Recoverability of Deferred Tax Assets — Refer to Notes 3.17.3, 3.18 and 7 to the financial statements

Key Audit Matter Description

The Company recognizes deferred income taxes for tax attributes and differences between the carrying values and tax basis of assets and liabilities at enacted statutory
tax rates in effect for the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. The carrying value of deferred income tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date
and reduced to the extent it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered in the foreseeable future.

Given the significant estimation uncertainty related to future taxable income and the determination of the probability that the deferred tax asset will be realized, auditing
these estimates required a high degree of subjectivity in applying audit procedures and in evaluating the results of those procedures. This resulted in an increased extent
of audit effort including the involvement of income tax specialists.

How the Key Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to future taxable income and the determination of the probability that the deferred income tax assets will be realized included the following,
among others:

e Evaluated future taxable income by:
e Evaluating the Company’s ability to accurately estimate future taxable income by comparing actual results to the Company’s historical estimates.

e Assessing the reasonability of estimates of future taxable income by evaluating key inputs to the estimates such as revenue and earnings margins against
historical performance, projections and trends.

e Evaluating whether the estimates of future taxable income were consistent with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit.

o With the assistance of income tax specialists, assessed the probability that the deferred income tax assets will be realized by:
e Assessing the existing temporary differences available for future utilization to evaluate deferred income tax assets available to the Company.
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e Assessing the period and sufficiency over which the Company expects to utilize the underlying future tax deductions against future taxable income before they
expire.

e Evaluating whether the taxable income in historical periods was of the appropriate character and available under the tax law.

Revenues and Allowance for Revenue Adjustments— Refer to Notes 3.16, 3.18, 4, 8 and 9 to the financial statements

Key Audit Matter Description

The Company’s revenues consist of contract-based fees made up of a significant volume of low-dollar value transactions and relate to digital and print revenues. While
digital revenues are primarily recognized over the term of the contract from the point at which service is first provided over the life of the contract, revenues from print
products are recognized at a point in time upon delivery of the print directories. Further, the Company estimates an allowance for revenue adjustments, which is recorded
as a reduction of revenue and reflects an estimate for claims expected from customers. This estimate is based in part on the Company’s historical claims experience.

Auditing of revenues and the allowance for revenue adjustments required significant audit effort due to the volume of transactions, the highly manual process associated
with portions of the revenue recognition process and the estimation uncertainty inherent to the determination of the allowance. This required a high degree of subjectivity
in applying audit procedures and in evaluating the results of those procedures.

How the Key Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
Our audit procedures related to revenues and the estimate related to the allowance for revenue adjustments included the following, among others:
e Evaluated revenues by:

o Testing the mathematical accuracy of the Company’s revenue recognition that is reliant upon manual processes.

e Assessing the customer contracts and fulfillment of service for a selection of revenue transactions and evaluating whether the contracts were properly recognized
into revenues based on the terms and conditions of each contract.

e Analyzing revenue recorded by comparing actuals to independently developed expectations.

e Inspecting evidence from a combination of sources, where necessary, assessing considerations for contradictory evidence and evaluating whether revenue was
appropriately recognized.

e Evaluated the allowance for revenue adjustments by:

e Assessing the methodologies used by the Company to estimate the allowance for revenue adjustments by understanding the processes adopted to monitor and
manage claims and collections, testing the mathematical accuracy of this calculation and testing the data used to establish this estimate.

e Assessing the Company’s ability to accurately estimate the allowance for revenue adjustments by comparing actual results to the Company’s historical estimates.
For a selection of historical customer claims, assessed claims to credits issued, debits recorded to revenue, the original contract, correspondence between the
customer and the sales representative, and other supporting documents.

Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises:
e Management’'s Discussion and Analysis

¢ The information, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, in the Annual Report.
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Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection
with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have performed on this other information, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in this auditor’s report. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of the auditor’s report. If, based on the work we will perform on this other information, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB,
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with Canadian GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business units within the Company
as a basis for forming an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is David Pain.

(signed) Deloitte LLP?

Montréal, Québec
February 11, 2026

T CPA auditor, public accountancy permit No. A129221
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Consolidated Statements of Income and Other Comprehensive Loss

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share and per share information)

For the years ended December 31, Note 2025 2024
Revenues 4 198,877 214,829
Operating costs 5 155,835 163,993
Income from operations before depreciation and amortization, and restructuring and other charges 43,042 50,836
Depreciation and amortization 10, 11, 12 12,320 13,436
Restructuring and other charges 14 4,260 2,027
Income from operations 26,462 35,373
Financial charges, net 6 1,704 945
Settlement loss on annuity purchase 15 3,970 -
Income before income taxes 20,788 34,428
Provision for income taxes 7 2,681 9,451
Net income 18,107 24,977
Other Comprehensive Loss

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to net income

Actuarial losses on post-employment benefit plans 15 (9,000) (312)
Income taxes relating to items that will not be reclassified subsequently to net income 2,377 82
Other comprehensive loss (6,623) (230)
Total comprehensive income 11,484 24,747
Income per share

Basic income per share 1.33 1.84
Weighted average shares outstanding — basic income per share 17 13,565,962 13,559,143
Diluted income per share 1.31 1.82
Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted income per share 17 13,767,388 13,752,770

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

As at December 31, Note 2025 2024
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash $ 62,681 $ 44,204
Trade and other receivables 8,9 28,776 33,677
Income taxes receivable 7 1,039 995
Prepaid expenses 4,437 4,561
Deferred publication costs 1,222 1,220
Net investment in subleases 10 2,490 2,253
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 100,645 86,910
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Deferred commissions 2,600 2,981
Financial and other assets 8 1,786 1,821
Right-of-use assets 10 4,122 4,774
Net investment in subleases 10 19,268 21,758
Property and equipment 11 2,275 2,644
Intangible assets 12 21,399 31,196
Deferred income taxes 7 10,493 11,786
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 61,943 76,960
TOTAL ASSETS $ 162,588 $ 163,870

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 13 $ 21,629 $ 24,008
Provisions 14 12,818 16,085
Deferred revenues 9 638 800
Current portion of lease obligations 10 3,941 3,778
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 39,026 44,671
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions 14 420 488
Post-employment benefits 15 39,109 28,751
Lease obligations 10 32,194 36,160
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 71,723 65,399
TOTAL LIABILITIES 110,749 110,070
CAPITAL AND RESERVES 96,379 96,302
DEFICIT (44,540) (42,502)
TOTAL EQUITY 51,839 53,800
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $ 162,588 $ 163,870

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

For the years ended December 31,

2025
Stock-based

Shareholders’ Restricted compensation and Total capital Total

Note capital shares other reserves and reserves Deficit equity

Balance, December 31, 2024 $ 95,087 $ (1,198) $ 2,413 $ 96,302 $ (42,502) 53,800

Other comprehensive loss - - - - (6,623) (6,623)

Net income - - - - 18,107 18,107

Total comprehensive income - - - - 11,484 11,484

Shares issued under the stock option plan 17, 18 65 - - 65 (3) 62

Dividends to shareholders 17 - - - - (13,567) (13,567)

Restricted shares settled 18 - 12 - 12 - 12

Restricted shares expense 18 - - 97 97 - 97

Restricted shares reclassification 18 - - (97) (97) 48 (49)

Balance, December 31, 2025 $ 95,152 $ (1,186) $ 2,413 $ 96,379 $ (44,540) 51,839

2024

Stock-based

Shareholders’ Restricted compensation and Total capital Total

Note capital shares other reserves and reserves Deficit equity

Balance, December 31, 2023 $ 95,087 $ (1,248) $ 2,413 $ 96,252 $ (53,996) 42,256

Other comprehensive loss - - - - (230) (230)

Net income — — — — 24,977 24,977

Total comprehensive income - - - - 24,747 24,747

Dividends to shareholders 17 - - - - (13,560) (13,560)

Restricted shares settled 18 - 50 - 50 - 50

Restricted shares expense 18 - - 193 193 - 193

Restricted shares reclassification 18 - - (193) (193) 35 (158)

Stock options equity-settled expense 18 - - 23 23 - 23

Stock options reclassification 18 - - (23) (23) (5) (28)
Adjustment to transaction costs related to

the plan of arrangement 17 — — — — 277 277

Balance, December 31, 2024 $ 95,087 $ (1,198) $ 2,413 $ 96,302 $ (42,502) 53,800

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)
For the years ended December 31, Note 2025 2024
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income 18,107 24,977
Adjusting items
Stock-based compensation expense — equity settled 97 216
Depreciation and amortization 12,320 13,436
Restructuring and other charges 4,260 2,027
Financial charges, net 1,704 945
Settlement loss on annuity purchase 3,970 -
Provision for income taxes 2,681 9,451
Change in operating assets and liabilities 2,015 3,329
Stock-based compensation cash payments (1,923) (2,751)
Funding of post-employment benefit plans in excess of costs (4,287) (8,207)
Restructuring and other charges paid 14 (3,304) (1,940)
Interest paid (1,579) (1,765)
Income taxes received (paid), net 986 (694)
Cash from operating activities 35,047 39,024
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to intangible assets (1,507) (2,402)
Additions to property and equipment (33) (78)
Payments received from net investment in subleases 10 2,253 1,967
Cash from (used in) investing activities 713 (513)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid 17 (13,567) (13,560)
Issuance of common shares 17 62 -
Payment of lease obligations 10 (3,778) (3,976)
Cash used in financing activities (17,283) (17,536)
NET INCREASE IN CASH 18,477 20,975
CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR 44,204 23,229
62,681 $ 44,204

CASH, END OF YEAR

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements — December 31, 2025
(all tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share information)

1. Description

Yellow Pages Limited, through its subsidiaries, offers local and national businesses access to digital and print media and marketing solutions to reach consumers in all
the provinces and territories of Canada. References herein to Yellow Pages Limited (or the “Company”) represent the financial position, financial performance, cash
flows and disclosures of Yellow Pages Limited and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.

Yellow Pages Limited’s registered head office is located at 1751 Rue Richardson, Montreal, Québec, Canada, H3K 1G6 and the common shares of
Yellow Pages Limited are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) under the symbol “Y”.

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) approved the consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2025 and 2024 on February 11, 2026 for
publication on February 12, 2026.

2. Adoption of new Accounting Standards
2.1 Accounting Standards that are issued but not yet effective and not yet applied on the consolidated financial statements
New standard IFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements

On April 9, 2024, the IASB issued its new standard IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements that will replace IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. The new standard aims at improving how entities communicate in their financial statements by setting new requirements to:

e Improve comparability, through a specified structure of the statement of profit and loss that is more comparable between entities;
¢ Enhance disclosure of the management-defined performance measures to improve transparency and make them subject to audit; and

¢ Render the grouping of information more useful and relevant through enhanced guidance on how to organize information in financial statements including note
disclosures.

IFRS 18 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2027. The standard is applied retrospectively, with specific transition provisions, and
early adoption is permitted. The Company is assessing the impact of this new standard on its current financial statement presentation.

3. Basis of presentation and material accounting policies
3.1 Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements of Yellow Pages Limited and its subsidiaries were prepared by management in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the revaluation of certain financial instruments that are measured at fair
value as explained in the accounting policies below.

3.2 Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, Yellow Pages Limited's functional currency.
3.3 Basis of consolidation

3.3.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries that are directly controlled by Yellow Pages Limited or indirectly controlled through other consolidated subsidiaries are fully consolidated. Subsidiaries are
all entities over which Yellow Pages Limited exercises control.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the effective date of acquisition up to the effective date of disposal. Intercompany assets, liabilities, and transactions between
fully consolidated companies are eliminated. Gains and losses on internal transactions with controlled companies are fully eliminated. Accounting policies and methods
are modified where necessary to ensure consistency of accounting treatment at the Yellow Pages Limited level.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements — December 31, 2025
(all tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share information)

3.4 Cash

3.4.1 Cash
Cash consists of funds on deposit and, from time to time, highly liquid investments with a purchased maturity of three months or less.
3.5 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the Company’s statement of financial position when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

3.5.1 Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: “amortized cost”; “fair value through other comprehensive income for equity investment”
(“FVOCI — equity investment”); and “fair value through profit or loss” (“FVTPL”).

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Company’s business model for
managing them.

The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

Subsequent measurement
Financial assets at amortized cost
The Company measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met:

. The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and
- The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (“EIR”) method, net of allowance for doubtful accounts. Gains and losses
are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized, modified or impaired.

The Company’s financial assets at amortized cost include trade and other receivables, net investment in subleases, and cash.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)

Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial
assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Financial assets at FVTPL are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements — December 31, 2025
(all tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share information)

Expected credit loss

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, the Company applies an expected credit loss (“ECL”) model as required under IFRS Accounting Standards. The ECL
model requires the Company to account for the ECL and changes in the ECL at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial
assets. For trade receivables (including contract assets), the Company applied the simplified approach whereby the lifetime ECL related to doubtful accounts for trade
receivables (also referred to as allowance for doubtful accounts) is established based on various factors, including amongst others the age of the exposure and in some
cases the customer’s solvency. While other receivables and net investment in subleases are also subject to the impairment requirements, the identified ECL was
insignificant.

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets are credit impaired. The Company will consider a financial asset to be in default when the
indebted party is unlikely to pay its obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by the Company to actions such as realizing security (if any). The Company
elected to consider that default does not occur when a financial asset is 90 days past due as the Company has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate and that default risk is not necessarily increased. In assessing whether an indebted party is in default, the
Company will consider indicators that are qualitative (e.g. breach of conditions), quantitative (e.g. overdue status), and data developed internally and obtained from
external sources. Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial asset is in default and their significance may vary over time to reflect circumstances. The same factors
are considered when determining whether to write-off amounts charged to the ECL allowance for trade receivables against the customer accounts receivable. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted for current customer circumstances. No customer accounts receivable
is written-off directly to the bad debt expense.

3.5.2 Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), loans and borrowings, trade payables
and accruals and compensation payable, as appropriate.

Yellow Pages Limited recognizes all financial liabilities, specifically trade and other payables and lease obligations initially at fair value less transaction costs and
subsequently at amortized cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Company derecognizes financial liabilities when the Company's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is recognized in profit or loss.

3.6 Deferred publication costs

Deferred publication costs are recognized for direct and incremental publication costs of obtaining a contract, manufacturing and distribution of telephone print directories,
as well as provisioning and fulfillment of digital products and services. The intangible asset represents costs that will be recognized in operating costs in future periods,
on the same basis as the related directories revenues, digital products and services revenues are recognized, over the term of the contract.

Deferred publication costs are initially measured at cost and are recognized in operating costs upon delivery of the publication or fulfillment of the digital products and
services.

3.7 Deferred commissions

Deferred commissions paid represent costs to obtain new sales contracts. These costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over a two-year period as this reflects the
expected period of benefit. The Company recognizes as an expense, the commissions paid for contract renewals with revenue recognized within one year or less.

3.8 Property and equipment

Property and equipment are recognized at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The various components of property and equipment are
depreciated separately based on their estimated useful lives. The historical cost of an asset includes the expenses that are directly attributable to its acquisition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements — December 31, 2025
(all tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share information)

Subsequent costs are included in the carrying value of the asset or recognized as a separate component, where necessary, if it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to Yellow Pages Limited and the cost of the asset can be reliably measured. All other repair and maintenance costs are expensed in the year they are incurred.
Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated on a straight-line method, based on the capitalized costs, less any residual value over the estimated useful life of
each corresponding asset.

The estimated useful lives of Property and equipment are as follows:

Office equipment 10 years
Computer equipment 3 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of term of lease or useful life

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at a minimum on an annual basis and depreciation and amortization are adjusted on
a prospective basis, as required.

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognized in profit or loss.

3.9 Leases
3.9.1 As a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control
the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The Company allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on
the basis of the relative stand-alone prices. The Company generally accounts for lease components and any associated non-lease components as a single arrangement.

At the lease commencement date, the Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease obligation with respect to all lease arrangements in which it
is the lessee.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease obligation adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the
right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment.
In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease obligation. Right-of-use
assets are tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 — Impairment of Assets, and impairments are recorded in restructuring and other charges on the consolidated
statements of income.

The lease obligation is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Company's incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”). Generally, the Company uses its IBR as the discount
rate.

The IBR is based on maturity term of the lease and is determined based on a series of inputs including: the current risk-free rates on government bonds and a credit
spread adjustment to account for the Company’s credit profile.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

- fixed (and in-substance fixed) lease payments, less any lease incentives;
- variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate; and
«  payments expected under residual value guarantees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements — December 31, 2025
(all tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share information)

The lease obligation is subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method (EIR) and the carrying amount is adjusted to reflect accrued interest
and lease payments.

Lease obligations are remeasured, with a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use-assets or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset has been reduced to zero, when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate or a change in the amount expected
to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if there are modifications to the lease conditions such as a change of square footage of a lease, or if the Company
changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.

When the lease obligation is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

For short-term leases (lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets, as permitted, the Company has opted to recognize a lease expense on a
straight-line basis. This expense is presented within Operating Costs in the consolidated statements of income. The amounts related to these low value leases are
insignificant.

3.9.2 As a lessor
When the Company acts as a lessor, it determines at lease commencement whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. Whenever the terms of the

lease transfers to the lessee substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership incidental to ownership of the underlying asset the contract is classified as a finance
lease; if not, then it is classified as an operating lease.

The Company has entered lease agreements as the sub-lessor with respect to some of its office locations.

The Company assessed and classified its subleases as finance leases, and therefore derecognized the right-of-use assets relating to the respective head leases being
sublet, recognized lease receivables equal to the net investment in the subleases, retained the previously recognized lease obligations in its capacity as lessee,
recognized the related interest expense thereafter and recognized interest income on the subleases receivable in its capacity as finance lessor.

3.10 Intangibles assets

The cost of intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately, is deemed to be their fair value at the acquisition date. Intangible assets acquired are
reported at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.

Internally-generated intangible assets, consisting of software used by the Company, are recognized if and only if, the following conditions have been demonstrated:

» the technical feasibility of completing the asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

+ the intention and adequate resources to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

* how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits; and

« the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognized for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditures incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognized, development expenditures are charged to the statement of income
in the period in which they are incurred.

Internally-generated intangible assets include the cost of software tools and licenses used in the development of Yellow Pages Limited’s systems, as well as all directly
attributable payroll and consulting costs. These items are not amortized until the assets are available for use.

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment loss. Intangibles assets are
amortized, as follows:

Non-competition agreements Straight-line over shorter of 7 years or life of agreement
Trademarks Straight-line over 10 years

Domain names Straight-line over 4 — 12 years

Software Straight-line over 3 years
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The estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at a minimum on an annual basis, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for
prospective basis.

An intangible asset is de-recognized on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from the de-recognition
of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds or fair value, as applicable, and the carrying value of the asset, are recognized in
the statement of income when the asset is de-recognized.

3.11 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

At each reporting date, Yellow Pages Limited determines whether there are any indications that the carrying values of its finite life tangible and intangible assets are
impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. Where the asset
does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, Yellow Pages Limited estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) or
group of CGUs to which the asset belongs. A CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generate cash inflows that are independent of those from other assets.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, intangible assets not yet available for use and goodwill, if any, are tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an
indication that the asset may be impaired. A majority of the Company’s intangible assets do not have cash inflows independent of those from other assets and as such,
are tested within their respective CGUs.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or CGU) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying value, the carrying value of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in the statement of income.

If the recoverable amount of a CGU or group of CGUs is less than the carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of
the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The Company does not reduce the carrying value of an asset below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use.

3.12 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables, including accruals, are recorded when Yellow Pages Limited is required to make future payments as a result of purchases of assets or
services. Trade and other payables are carried at amortized cost.

3.13 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when Yellow Pages Limited has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognized as a financial charge. Provisions are reversed when new external factors, such as market conditions, or internal factors indicates that the recoverable
amount is higher or lower than originally anticipated.

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognized and measured as provisions. An onerous contract is considered to exist where Yellow Pages Limited
has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it.

3.14 Employee benefits
3.14.1 Defined contribution plans

Yellow Pages Limited maintains a defined contribution plan that provides certain employees a post-employment benefit under which the Company pays predetermined
contributions based on a percentage of the employee’s salary into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts.
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Post-employment benefit plans service costs are recognized for defined contribution pension plans when the employee provides service to the Company, coinciding with
the Company’s cash contributions. Prepaid contributions are recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available. New
employees can only participate in the defined contribution plans, when eligible.

3.14.2 Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. Yellow Pages Limited’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension
plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefits that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior
periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value. The fair value of any plan assets is deducted from the obligation. The discount rate is the yield at the
reporting date on high-quality corporate bonds that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension liability adjusted for a spread to reflect any
additional credit risk and that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits are expected to be paid. The calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary
using the projected benefit method prorated on service.

Yellow Pages Limited recognizes all actuarial gains and losses arising subsequently from defined benefit plans in other comprehensive income (“OCI”). Re-measurement,
comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effects of changes to the asset ceiling, if applicable, and the return on plan assets, excluding net interest on the defined benefit
obligation, is reflected immediately in the statement of financial position with a charge or credit recognized in OCIl. Re-measurement recognized in OCI is reflected
immediately in retained earnings and will not be classified to the statement of income. Past service costs are recognized in the statement of income in the period a plan
amendment is announced to employees. The net interest amount, which is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined liability or asset of defined benefit
plans, is recognized in net financial charges while current service costs are recorded in operating expenses.

3.14.3 Other long-term employee benefits

Yellow Pages Limited’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits other than pension plans is the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in
return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any related asset is deducted. The
discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on high quality corporate bonds that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related obligation. The calculation
is performed using the projected unit credit method. Any actuarial gains or losses are recognized in the period in which they arise.

3.14.4 Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized as an expense when Yellow Pages Limited can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits, or if earlier, when there is no realistic
possibility of withdrawal from a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement date, or from providing termination benefits as a result
of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognized as an expense if Yellow Pages Limited has made
an offer of voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can be estimated reliably.

3.14.5 Share-based payments

Yellow Pages Limited’'s share-based payment arrangements include restricted share units (“RSUs”), performance share units (“PSUs”), deferred share units (“DSUs”),
stock options and share appreciation rights granted to eligible employees or directors of the Company (“the Participants”).

RSUs and PSUs

RSUs and PSUs granted may be settled in cash or equity at the Participant’s option, therefore, in respect of RSUs, the Company accrues a liability equal to the number
of vesting RSUs multiplied by the fair value of YP’s common share at the end of the reporting period. The fair value of the liability is remeasured at each reporting date
and at settlement date, with any changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss. Additional RSUs are issued to reflect the dividends declared on the common shares.
There were no PSUs outstanding as of December 31, 2025 and 2024. In addition, certain of the Company’s RSUs will be settled in cash based on contractual conditions.

Stock options
The stock options granted may be settled in cash or equity at the Company’s option.

The stock-option plan is treated as a cash-settled instrument based on historical practice and therefore recorded as a liability. Yellow Pages Limited recognizes
compensation expense in operating costs in the statements of income, equal to the fair value at the grant date determined using the Black-Scholes’s valuation method,
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recognized over the term of the vesting period, with a corresponding credit to liability. The liability is re-measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period with
any changes recorded in operating costs.

DSUs

During the fourth quarter of 2024, the Board approved the termination and liquidation of the DSU plan, effective as of December 16, 2024 and the payment of all accrued
benefits so that such amounts are payable in lump sum to the Participants. Pursuant to the DSU plan, each Participant received a lump sum cash payment equal to the
number of DSUs credited to the Participant’s account multiplied by the volume weighted average trading price (“VWAP”) of YP’s common share for the five trading days
immediately preceding the effective termination date. (see Note 18 Stock-based compensation plans for additional details).

Share appreciation rights

The share appreciation rights are settled in cash and recorded accordingly as a liability. For share appreciation rights granted, Yellow Pages Limited recognizes
compensation expense in operating costs in the statements of income, equal to the fair value at the grant date, recognized over the term of the vesting period, with a
corresponding credit to liability. At the end of each reporting period, the liability is re-measured at fair value with any changes recorded in operating costs.

3.15 Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by
Yellow Pages Limited are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Transaction costs incurred by Yellow Pages Limited in issuing, repurchasing or reselling its own equity instruments are accounted for as a deduction from equity to the
extent that they are incremental costs directly attributable to the equity transaction that otherwise would have been avoided.

3.16 Revenues

Yellow Pages Limited’s revenues consist of contract-based fees made up of a significant volume of low-dollar value transactions and relate to digital and print revenues.
The Company’s revenues are measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of an allowance for revenue adjustments and sales taxes. The
consideration amounts are generally fixed.

Revenues from print products are recognized at a point in time upon delivery of the print directories. Print revenues are generally billed on a monthly basis over the year
of publication.

Digital revenues from classified and display advertisements are recognized into income over the term of the contract on a monthly basis from the point at which service
is first provided over the life of the contract, which is generally twelve (12) months, since the customer receives and consumes the benefits of the advertisement
simultaneously over the period of display of the advertisement. Certain revenues, such as website design fees, are recognized at a point in time upon completion of the
design of the website since the satisfaction of performance obligation is completed at that time.

Unless the product description states otherwise, customer contracts are automatically renewed for consecutive subsequent periods equal in length to the initial
term, except if the client gives the Company a written notice of non-renewal per the contract terms and conditions.

Payments terms for all customers are generally due upon receipt of the invoice. The disaggregation of revenue by product group has been disclosed in the Operating
Segments note.

The allowance for revenue adjustments is recorded as a reduction of revenue and reflects an estimate for claims expected from customers. This estimate is based in
part on the Company’s historical claims experience.
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3.17 Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the current and deferred tax.
3.17.1 Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred taxes are recognized as an expense or income in the statement of income, except to the extent that the expense or income relates to items
recognized in OCI or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax are also recognized in OCI or directly in equity respectively. Where the current or
deferred tax arise from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effects are taken into account in the accounting for the business combination.

3.17.2 Current income tax

Taxable income differs from income as reported in the statement of income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. Yellow Pages Limited’s liability for current income tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

3.17.3 Deferred tax asset and liability

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying values of assets and liabilities in the statements of financial position and their corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable income, and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable
temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where Yellow Pages Limited
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognized to the extent it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying value of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which Yellow Pages Limited expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off tax assets against tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority and Yellow Pages Limited intends to settle its tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

3.18 Significant estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that can affect the carrying value of certain assets and
liabilities, income and expenses and the information disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. Management reviews these estimates and
assumptions on a regular basis to ensure their pertinence with respect to past experience and the current events including but not limited to economic and financial
market conditions such as higher interest rates and inflation and increasing risk of recession, as well as other factors that are considered to be relevant. These estimates
are subject to measurement uncertainty and actual results could differ from current estimates as a result of changes in these assumptions. The impact of changes in
accounting estimates is recognized during the period in which the change takes place and affected future periods, where applicable.
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The more significant estimates made by management are described below.
Allowance for revenue adjustments

The Company records an allowance for revenue adjustments as a reduction to revenue. This reflects an estimate of claims expected from customers. The Company
updates its estimate of the allowance for revenue adjustments based on historical experience related to claims, as well as client-related factors. This significant estimate
could affect Yellow Pages Limited’s future results if actual claims are higher or lower than anticipated.

Measurement of ECL allowance for trade receivables

In relation to the impairment of trade receivables (including contract assets), the Company uses the ECL model, which requires the Company to account for the ECL and
changes in the ECL at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the trade receivable. The ECL related to doubtful accounts for trade
receivables (also referred to as allowance for doubtful accounts) is established based on various factors, including amongst others the age of the exposure and in some
cases the customer’s solvency. This significant estimate could affect the Company’s future results if there is a further significant change in economic conditions or
customer solvency or any new information that may impact our assumptions.

Estimate of the lease term

When the Company recognizes a lease, it assesses the lease term based on the conditions of the lease and assesses whether it will extend the lease at the end of the
lease contract, or exercise an early termination option. The Company determined that the term of its leases is the original lease term as it is not reasonably certain that
the extension or early termination options will be exercised. This significant estimate could affect Yellow Pages Limited’s future results if the Company extends the lease
or exercises an early termination option.

Assessment of whether a right-of-use asset is impaired

The Company assesses whether a right-of-use asset is impaired, particularly when it vacates an office space and it must determine the recoverability of the asset, to the
extent that the Company can sublease the assets or surrender the lease and recover its costs. The Company will examine its lease conditions as well as local market
conditions and estimate its recoverability potential for each vacated premise. The determination of the lease cost recovery rate involves significant management estimates
based on market availability of similar office space and local market conditions. This significant estimate could affect Yellow Pages Limited’s future results if the Company
succeeds in subleasing their vacated offices at a higher or lower rate or at different dates than initially anticipated.

Determining the discount rate for leases

IFRS 16 requires the Company to discount the lease payments using the rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
the lessee is required to use its IBR. The Company generally used its IBR rate when recording leases initially, since the implicit rates were not readily available due to
information not being available from the lessor regarding the fair value of underlying assets and directs costs incurred by the lessor related to the leased assets. The IBR
for each lease was determined on the commencement date of the lease and recalculated at the remeasurement date where applicable.

Useful lives of intangible assets and property and equipment

Yellow Pages Limited reviews the estimated useful lives of its intangible assets and property and equipment at the end of each reporting period. At the end of the current
reporting period, management determined that the useful lives of its intangible assets and property and equipment were adequate.

Employee future benefits

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by employing the projected benefit method prorated on service using interest rates of high-quality
corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension
liability. Determination of the net benefit costs (recovery) requires assumptions such as the discount rate to measure defined benefit obligations and expected return on
plan assets, the projected age of employees upon retirement, the expected rate of future compensation and the expected healthcare cost trend rate. Actual results may
differ from results which are estimated based on assumptions.
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Income taxes

Estimation of income taxes includes evaluating the recoverability of deferred tax assets based on an assessment of Yellow Pages Limited’s ability to utilize the underlying
future tax deductions against future taxable income before they expire. Yellow Pages Limited’s assessment is based upon existing tax laws and estimates of future
taxable income. If the assessment of Yellow Pages Limited’s ability to utilize the underlying future tax deductions changes, Yellow Pages Limited would be required to
recognize more or fewer of the tax deductions as assets, which would decrease or increase the income tax expense in the period in which this is determined. The carrying
value of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date, remeasured to the extent that probable sufficient taxable profits will be available, or reduced to the extent
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered in the foreseeable future.

4. Operating segments

The Chief Operating Decision Maker, President and Chief Executive Officer is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments
and reviews at the consolidated level. As a result, the Corporation has determined that it comprises a single operating segment and therefore a single reportable segment.
Substantially all of the Company’s assets and sales are located in Canada.

The Company reviews revenues by similar products and services, such as Print and Digital.

Print revenues are recognized at a point in time, whereas 99% of digital revenues were recognized over the term of the contract and 1% at a point in time for the years
ended December 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024.

The following table presents revenue information by similar products and services:

For the years ended December 31, 2025 2024
Digital $ 161,314 $ 172,088
Print 37,563 42,741

Total revenues $ 198,877 $ 214,829

5. Operating costs

For the years ended December 31, Note 2025 2024
Salaries, commissions and benefits $ 59,020 $ 65,873
Supply chain and logistics’ 58,039 58,575
Other goods and services? 14,772 14,666
Information systems 19,825 20,578
Remeasurement of ECL, net of recovery 8 4179 4,301
Total operating costs $ 155,835 $ 163,993

! Supply chain and logistics costs relate to external supplier costs for manufacturing, distribution and fulfillment of our print and digital products.
2 Other goods and services include promotion and advertising costs, real estate, office services, consulting services including contractors and professional fees.
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6. Financial charges, net

The significant components of the financial charges, net are as follows:

For the years ended December 31, 2025 2024
Interest on lease obligations, net of interest income on investment in subleases $ 781 $ 1,006
Net interest on the defined benefit obligations 1,676 1,475
Interest income on cash balances (1,614) (1,520)
Other, net 861 (16)
Financial charges, net $ 1,704 $ 945

7. Income taxes

A reconciliation of income taxes at Canadian statutory rates with reported income taxes is as follows:

For the years ended December 31, 2025 2024
Income before income taxes $ 20,788 $ 34,428
Combined Canadian federal and provincial tax rates’ 26.41% 26.43%
Income tax expense at statutory rates $ 5,490 $ 9,099
Increase (decrease) resulting from:
Recognition of previously unrecognized tax attributes and temporary differences (2,803) 5
Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes (33) 126
Adjustments from previous years 26 217
Other 1 4
Provision for income taxes $ 2,681 $ 9,451

' The combined applicable statutory tax rate decreased mainly by provincial allocation of revenues earned.

(Recovery of) provision for income taxes includes the following amounts:

For the years ended December 31, 2025 2024
Current $ (989) $ 339
Deferred 3,670 9,112

$ 2,681 $ 9,451
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Deferred income tax (assets) liabilities are attributable to the following items:

Property and

Deferred Post- equipment Deferred income

financing Deferred employment Accrued and lease Intangible tax (assets)

costs revenues benefits liabilities inducements assets liabilities, net
As at December 31, 2023 $ (30) $ (253) $ (3,349) $ (4,548) $ 3,100 $ (15,736) $ (20,816)
Expense (benefit) to statement of income 10 41 5,168 2,157 (1,264) 3,000 9,112
(Benefit) to OCI - - (82) - - - (82)
As at December 31, 2024 $ (20) $ (212) $ 1,737 % (2,391) $ 1,836 $ (12,736) $ (11,786)
Expense (benefit) to statement of income 10 44 1,746 855 (788) 1,803 3,670
(Benefit) to OCI - - (2,377) - - - (2,377)
As at December 31, 2025 $ (10) $ (168) $ 1,106 $ (1,536) $ 1,048 $ (10,933) $ (10,493)

As at December 31, 2025, the Company and its subsidiaries have not recognized deferred income tax assets with respect to US operating losses of $296.4 million, which
expire gradually between 2028 and 2037 and indefinitely when incurred after 2017. Furthermore, the Company and its subsidiaries have not recognized deferred income
tax assets with respect to Canadian capital losses of $11.3 million which can be utilized indefinitely.

As at December 31, 2025, the Company and its subsidiaries have not recognized deductible temporary differences of $553.4 million (2024 — $402.4 million).

8. Financial risk management
Credit Risk

Credit risk stems primarily from the potential inability of a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument to meet its contractual obligations. Yellow Pages Limited is
exposed to credit risk with respect to cash, trade receivables from customers and investment in subleases. The carrying value of financial assets represents
Yellow Pages Limited’s maximum exposure. Credit risk associated with cash is minimized substantially by ensuring that these financial assets are placed with creditworthy
counterparties. An ongoing review is performed to evaluate changes in the status of counterparties.

Yellow Pages Limited’s extension of credit to customers involves judgment. Yellow Pages Limited has established internal controls designed to mitigate credit risk,
including a formal credit policy managed by its credit department. New customers, customers increasing their advertising spend by a certain threshold and customers
not respecting payment terms are subject to a specific vetting and approval process. Yellow Pages Limited considers that it has limited exposure to concentration of
credit risk with respect to trade receivables from customers due to its large and diverse customer base operating in numerous industries and its geographic diversity.
There are no individual customers that account for 10% or more of revenues and there are no trade receivables from any one individual customer that exceeds 10% of
the total balance of trade receivables at any point in time during the year.

Bell Canada (“Bell”) and TELUS Communications Inc. (“TELUS”) provide Yellow Pages Limited with customer collection services with respect to advertisers who are
also their customers. As such, they receive money from customers on behalf of Yellow Pages Limited. Yellow Pages Limited retains the ultimate collection risk on these
receivables.
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The components of trade and other receivables are as follows:

As at December 31, 2025 2024
Current $ 22,271 $ 26,826
Past due less than 180 days 4,287 5,123
Past due over 180 days 1,981 1,553

Trade receivables'’ $ 28,539 $ 33,502

Other receivables $ 237 $ 175

Trade and other receivables $ 28,776 $ 33,677

" Trade receivables are presented net of allowance for revenue adjustments (“AFRA”) and expected credit loss allowance (“ECL”) of $7.5 million as at December 31, 2025 ($7.4 million as at December 31, 2024).

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and the ECL allowance for trade receivables (including contract assets).

For the years ended December 31, 2025 2024
Expected credit Gross carrying Expected Gross carrying

loss rate amount’ ECL allowance credit loss rate amount’ ECL allowance

Current 1.4% $ 22,594 $ 323 1.1% $ 27,130 $ 304

Past due less than 180 days 15.9% 5,097 810 14.4% 5,987 864

Past due over 180 days 71.5% 6,941 4,960 72.8% 5,720 4,167

Total $ 34,632 $ 6,093 $ 38,837 $ 5,335

' The gross carrying value is net of the allowance for revenue adjustments of $1.4 million as at December 31, 2025 ($2.1 million as at December 31, 2024).

The following table shows the movement in ECL allowance that has been recognized for trade receivables (including contract assets).

As at December 31, 2025 2024
Balance, beginning of the year $ 5,335 $ 5,854
Remeasurement of ECL allowance, net of recovery 4,179 4,301
Amounts written-off (3,421) (4,820)
Balance, end of year $ 6,093 $ 5,335

Yellow Pages Limited estimates the loss allowance on the net investment in subleases at the end of the reporting period at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. None of the
net investment in subleases at the end of the reporting period is past due, and taking into account the historical default experience and the future prospects of the
industries in which the lessees operate, together with the value of collateral held over the net investment in subleases, the ECL on net investment in subleases is
insignificant.

(i) Interest Rate Risk

Yellow Pages Limited is exposed to interest rate risks resulting from fluctuations in interest rates on its asset-based loan (“ABL”) with rates which are based on the Prime
rate. Yellow Pages Limited does not use derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to interest rate risk. The Company manages its interest rate risk by maximizing
the interest income earned on excess funds while maintaining the necessary liquidity to conduct its day-to-day operations.

(ii) Foreign Exchange Risk

Yellow Pages Limited is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency transactions, the financial risks which are not significant. Foreign exchange
transaction risk arises primarily from commercial transactions that are denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency of Yellow Pages Limited’s business
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unit that is party to the transaction. Yellow Pages Limited is exposed to fluctuations in the U.S. dollar. The effect on net income from existing U.S. dollar exposures of a
one point increase or decrease in the Canadian/U.S. dollar exchange rate is not significant. The Company’s expenditures, net of revenues, denominated in U.S. dollars
were approximately $17.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2025 (2024 — $13.6 million). As at December 31, 2025, there were no foreign currency contracts
outstanding.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the exposure of Yellow Pages Limited to the risk of not being able to meet its financial obligations as they become due.

Yellow Pages Limited manages this risk by maintaining detailed cash projections and long-term operating and strategic plans. The management of liquidity requires a
constant monitoring of expected cash inflows and outflows which is achieved through a detailed projection of the Company’s liquidity position to ensure adequate and
efficient use of cash resources.

The Company expects to meet its financial obligations through internally generated cash and cash on hand.

The following are the contractual maturities of the financial liabilities:

Note Payments due for the years following December 31, 2025
Total 1 year 2 - 3 years 4 -5 years Thereafter

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 $ 21,629 $ 21,629 $ - $ - $ —
Provisions 14 13,238 12,818 420 - -
Lease obligations 10 36,135 3,941 8,624 10,413 13,157
Total $ 71,002 $ 38,388 $ 9,044 $ 10,413 $ 13,157

Fair value hierarchy
The three levels of fair value hierarchy are as follows:

+ Level 1 —inputs are unadjusted quoted prices of identical instruments in active markets.
» Level 2 —inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
* Level 3 —inputs used in a valuation technique are not based on observable market data in determining fair values of the instruments.

Determination of fair value and the resulting hierarchy requires the use of observable market data whenever available. The classification of a financial instrument in the
hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the measurement of fair value.

The fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants.

Cash, trade and other receivables, and trade and other payables and certain provisions are not measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position,
as their carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value due to their short-term maturity.

Asset-Based Loan

On August 27, 2025, the Company, through its subsidiary Yellow Pages Digital & Media Solutions Limited, extended the term of its asset-based loan (ABL) to September
2028. The amended agreement also lowered the total commitment from $20.0 million to $15.0 million, with an additional reduction of $2.5 million each year beginning in
September 2026. The ABL is being used for general corporate purposes. Through the ABL, the Company has access to the funds in the form of prime rate loans or letters
of credit. The ABL is subject to a trailing twelve-month fixed charge coverage ratio when there is an event of default or when excess availability is less than 10% of the facility
limit. Upon such event, the fixed charge coverage ratio must be a minimum of 1.1 times.

As at December 31, 2025, the Company had $0.6 million of letters of credit issued and outstanding, resulting in an availability of $14.4 million remaining under the ABL.

As at December 31, 2025, the Company was in compliance with all covenants under the loan agreement governing the ABL.
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9. Contract assets and liabilities

The following table provides information about contract assets, which are included in trade and other receivables.

As at December 31, 2025 2024
Contract assets $ 12,968 $ 14,797
Allowance for revenue adjustments and ECL (245) (297)
Contract assets net of allowance for revenue adjustments and ECL $ 12,723 $ 14,500

The contract assets, which are included in trade and other receivables, consist of payments for print products on delivered directories that are not yet due from the
customer and represent the Company’s right to consideration for the services rendered. Any amount previously recognized as a contract asset is reclassified to trade
receivables once it is invoiced to the customer. The change in contract assets for the year ended December 31, 2025 is primarily related to the fluctuation in print revenue.

The revenues related to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied at the reporting date) are expected to be recognized over the next twelve
(12) months. The contract liabilities consist of deferred revenues which primarily relate to the advanced consideration received from customers for which revenue is
recognized over time.

10. Leases

During the year ended December 31, 2025, the Company's existing sublease for a previously vacated office space reached its contractual end. Upon expiry of the
sublease, the subtenant subsequently entered into a direct lease agreement with the lessor, thereby releasing the Company from its lease obligations under the original
head lease. In addition, the Company also acquired computer equipment under finance leases, resulting in an increase in right-of-use assets as well as an increase in
lease obligations.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company disposed of certain computer equipment under finance leases, resulting in a decrease in right-of-use assets.

As a result of the transactions described above, the Company recognized a restructuring recovery of $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2025, compared to a
restructuring expense of $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Lease obligations

The following table summarizes the continuity of the lease obligations:

As at December 31, 2025 2024
Lease obligations, opening balance $ 39,938 $ 43,914
Additions 48 -
Surrender (73) -
Payment of lease obligations (3,778) (3,976)
Lease obligations, closing balance $ 36,135 $ 39,938
Less current portion 3,941 3,778
Non-current portion $ 32,194 $ 36,160
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The following table provides the maturities of the contractual lease obligations on an undiscounted basis for the next five years and thereafter:

As at December 31, 2025 2024
Less than one year $ 6,692 $ 6,831
One to five years 26,592 26,574
Thereafter 14,454 21,185
Total undiscounted lease obligations $ 47,738 $ 54,590

10.1 As a lessee

The Company leases offices, which typically run for a period of 15 to 18 years. Some leases include an option to renew the lease for an additional period of five years

after the end of the contract term.

10.1.1 Right-of-use assets’

2025 2024
Cost
Opening balance $ 15,984 $ 17,201
Additions 48 189
Disposals - (1,406)
Write-off for expired leases (298) -
Closing balance $ 15,734 $ 15,984
Accumulated depreciation
Opening balance $ 11,210 $ 11,715
Depreciation expense 700 808
Disposals - (1,313)
Write-off for expired leases (298) -
Closing balance $ 11,612 $ 11,210
Net book value - closing balance $ 4,122 $ 4774
1 Right-of-use assets consist primarily of office spaces.
Amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of income
For the years ended December 31, 2025 2024
Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets $ (700) $ (808)
Loss on disposal on right-of-use assets $ - $ (93)
Gain on surrender of lease obligation $ 73 $ -
Interest expense on lease obligations $ (2,318) $ (2,681)
Interest income on investment in subleases $ 1,537 $ 1,675
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10.2 As alessor

The Company subleases offices that it originally leased in 2017 and 2018. The Company has classified these subleases as finance leases, because the subleases cover
the remaining term of the respective head lease.

10.2.1 Net investment in subleases

2025 2024
Net investment in subleases, opening balance $ 24,011 $ 25,957
Additions - 21
Payments received from sub-lessees, net of commissions (2,253) (1,967)
Net investment in subleases, closing balance $ 21,758 $ 24,011
Less current portion 2,490 2,253
Non-current portion $ 19,268 $ 21,758
10.2.2 Maturity analysis — contractual undiscounted cash flows
As at December 31, 2025 2024
Less than one year $ 3,868 $ 3,790
One to two years 3,889 3,868
Two to three years 3,777 3,889
Three to four years 3,883 3,777
Four to five years 3,964 3,883
Thereafter 8,078 12,042
Total undiscounted lease payments receivable $ 27,459 $ 31,249
Unearned interest income 5,701 7,238
Net investment in subleases $ 21,758 $ 24,011
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Office Computer Leasehold

equipment equipment improvements Total
Cost
As at December 31, 2023 2334 $ 18,849 $ 7,724 $ 28,907
Additions - 62 - 62
Disposals - (96) - (96)
As at December 31, 2024 2,334 $ 18,815 § 7,724 $ 28,873
Disposals and retirements (1,376) (13,721) (2,068) (17,165)
As at December 31, 2025 958 $ 5,094 $ 5,656 $ 11,708
Accumulated depreciation
As at December 31, 2023 2,011 § 18,723  $ 5091 § 25,825
Depreciation expense 85 72 330 487
Disposals - (83) - (83)
As at December 31, 2024 2,09 $ 18,712  $ 5421 § 26,229
Depreciation expense 82 51 229 362
Disposals and retirements (1,370) (13,719) (2,069) (17,158)
As at December 31, 2025 808 $ 5044 $ 3,581 $ 9,433
Net Book Value
As at December 31, 2024 238 § 103 $ 2,303 $ 2,644
As at December 31, 2025 150 $ 50 $ 2,075 $ 2,275
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12. Intangibles

Trademarks Non- Total
and domain competition intangible
names agreements Software' assets

Cost
As at December 31, 2023 $ 90,611  $ 258,983 $ 255,993 $ 605,587
Additions - - 2,499 2,499
Disposals - - (160) (160)
As at December 31, 2024 $ 90,611  $ 258,983 $ 258,332 § 607,926
Additions - - 1,461 1,461
Disposals and retirements - - (15,358) (15,358)
As at December 31, 2025 $ 90,611 $ 258,983 $ 244,435 $ 594,029
Accumulated amortization
As at December 31, 2023 $ 59,209 $ 258,983 $ 246,477 % 564,669
Amortization expense 7,851 - 4,290 12,141
Disposals - - (80) (80)
As at December 31, 2024 $ 67,060 $ 258,983 $ 250,687 $ 576,730
Amortization expense 7,850 - 3,408 11,258
Disposals and retirements — — (15,358) (15,358)
As at December 31, 2025 $ 74910 $ 258,983 $ 238,737 $ 572,630
Net Book Value
As at December 31, 2024 $ 23,551 $ - $ 7645 $ 31,196
As at December 31, 2025 $ 15,701  $ - $ 5698 $ 21,399

" Software under development amounted to $1.7 million (2024 - $2.8 million).
Impairment of intangible assets

As a majority of the intangible assets do not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets, the Company performs its
impairment analysis of its intangible assets at the CGU level. The Company has one CGU to which assets belong. In 2025 and 2024, the Company performed an
assessment of indicators of impairment on the finite life intangible assets and no further impairment analysis was required.

Yellow Pages Limited has accumulated impairment losses on intangible assets and property and equipment in the amounts of $1,379.6 million and $21.9 million,
respectively.

13. Trade and other payables

As at December 31, 2025 2024
Trade $ 15313  § 16,639
Payroll related 897 859
Long-term incentive plans 5,118 6,199
Other accrued liabilities 301 311

$ 21,629 $ 24,008

YELLOW PAGES LIMITED 2025



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements — December 31, 2025
(all tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share information)

14. Provisions

Yellow Pages Limited recorded restructuring and other charges of $4.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2025 consisting mainly of restructuring charges of
$4.1 million associated with workforce reductions, a $0.1 million charge related to lease costs for previously vacated office space, and $0.1 million of other costs.

Yellow Pages Limited recorded restructuring and other charges of $2.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2024 consisting mainly of restructuring charges of
$1.4 million associated with workforce reductions, a $0.5 million charge related to future lease costs for previously vacated office space, and $0.1 million of other costs.

The provisions for restructuring and other charges represent the present value of the best estimate of the future outflow of economic benefits that will be required to settle
the provisions and may vary as a result of new events affecting the severances and charges that will need to be paid. Other provisions include provisions primarily for
vacation and short-term incentive plans.

Provisions for Provisions for Other Total

restructuring’ other charges’ provisions provisions
As at December 31, 2023 $ 1,171 $ 768 % 14,926 $ 16,865
Charges 1,387 677 14,105 16,169
Payments (1,137) (804) (14,520) (16,461)
As at December 31, 2024 $ 1,421 $ 641 $ 14,511 $ 16,573
Charges 2,917 190 11,977 15,084
Payments (2,926) (378) (15,115) (18,419)
As at December 31, 2025 $ 1,412 $ 453 $ 11,373 $ 13,238
Current $ 1,069 $ 376 $ 11,373 $ 12,818
Non-current 343 77 - 420
As at December 31, 2025 $ 1,412 $ 453 $ 11,373 $ 13,238

" Included in the restructuring and other charges of $4.3 million (2024 - $2.0 million) on the statement of income are net expenses and payments of $1.2 million (2024 - $nil) not affecting the provision.
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15. Post-employment benefits

Yellow Pages Limited maintains pension plans with defined benefit and defined contribution components which cover substantially all of the employees of Yellow Pages
Limited. Yellow Pages Limited maintains unfunded supplementary defined benefit pension plans for certain executives and also maintains other retirement and
post-employment benefits (“other benefits”) plans which cover substantially all of its employees.

The defined benefit plans typically expose the Company to actuarial risks such as investment, interest rate, longevity and salary risks.

Investment risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan obligation is calculated using a discount rate determined by reference to high quality corporate bond yields; if the actual
return on plan assets is below the assumed rate, it will create a plan deficit. Until September 2024, the defined benefit pension plan (“Pension Plan”) had a relatively
balanced investment in equity securities and debt instruments. As a result of the Deficit Reduction Plan announced in May of 2021 and the advancement of the
voluntary incremental cash contributions to the Pension Plan, the wind-up ratio increased to over 90%. As a result, the Board approved a plan to derisk the Pension
Plan and protect the realized investment gains and wind-up ratio. The derisking of the pension plan in September 2024 resulted in approximately 70% of its investment
portfolio allocated to fixed income investments and the remaining balance in real estate, infrastructure and private equity assets. On May 30, 2025, the Company
further derisked the Pension Plan by purchasing a buy-out group annuity policy from BMO Life Assurance Company, which reduced the Pension Plan obligations by
approximately 50%. Subsequent to the annuity purchase, the asset allocation in the Pension Plan investment portfolio is approximately 30% fixed income investments
and 70% real estate, infrastructure and private equity assets. The Company intends to transition its investment portfolio to have 100% allocated to fixed income
securities over time which will further reduce the investment risks as the investment portfolio would closely match the long-term liabilities of the Pension Plan.

Interest risk

A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the defined benefit plan obligation, particularly on a solvency basis. Although this will be partially offset by an increase
in the return of the defined benefit plan’s investments, the impact may be material as pension liabilities are sensitive to variations in interest rates.

Longevity risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan obligation is calculated based on assumptions regarding mortality rates of plan participants both during and after their
employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the defined benefit obligation.

Inflation risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan obligation is calculated by reference to the inflation rate. As such, a higher inflation rate than projected will increase the
defined benefit plan obligation.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation and the related current service cost were measured using the projected benefit method prorated on service. For the
pension plans, this was based on the actuarial valuation and the present value of the defined benefit plan obligation which was carried out by TELUS Health, Fellows of

the Canadian Institute of Actuaries and Society of Actuaries, as at December 31, 2022, and extrapolated to December 31, 2025. For funding purposes, an actuarial
valuation of the defined benefit component of the Yellow Pages pension plans was performed as at December 31, 2022, with an upcoming actuarial valuation to be
performed as at December 31, 2025. The actuarial valuation for the other benefits was performed by HUB International as at July 1, 2024 and the results were extrapolated
to December 31, 2025.
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As at December 31, 2025 2024
Pension benefits’ Other benefits Pension benefits' Other benefits

Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year $ 437,954 $ - $ 434,524 $ -
Employer contributions 4,043 2,273 7,966 2,319
Employee contributions 304 - 316 -
Interest income 13,675 - 19,484 -
Return on plan assets excluding interest income (16,906) - 6,207 -
Benefit payments (31,211) (2,273) (29,976) (2,319)
Administration costs (587) - (567) -
Asset distributed on settlement through annuity purchase (209,852) - — —
Fair value of plan assets, end of year $ 197,420 $ - $ 437,954 $ -
Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 442,829 $ 23,876 $ 447,279 $ 22,425
Current service cost 1,440 1 1,500 2
Employee contributions 304 - 316 -
Benefit payments (31,211) (2,273) (29,976) (2,319)
Interest cost 14,288 1,063 19,963 996
Defined benefit obligation extinguished on settlement through annuity purchase (205,882)

Actuarial losses (gains) due to:

Experience adjustments - - - 1,990
Changes in financial assumptions (7,205) (701) 3,747 782

Defined benefit obligation, end of year $ 214,563 $ 21,966 $ 442,829 $ 23,876
Net defined benefit obligation $ (17,143) $ (21,966) $ (4,875) $ (23,876)

1 Including unfunded supplementary defined benefit pension plans.

YELLOW PAGES LIMITED 2025

32



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements — December 31, 2025
(all tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share information)

While all the plans are not considered fully funded for financial reporting purposes, registered plans are funded in accordance with the applicable statutory funding rules
and regulations governing the particular plans.

The significant assumptions adopted in measuring Yellow Pages Limited’s pension and other benefit obligations as at December 31, 2025 and 2024 were as follows:

As at December 31, 2025 2024
Pension benefits Other benefits Pension benefits Other benefits

Post-employment benefit obligation

Discount rate, end of year 4.90% 4.90% 4.60% 4.60%
Rate of compensation increase’ 2.35% n.a 2.15% n.a
Inflation Rate 2.00% 2.00% 1.80% 2.00%
Net benefit plan costs
Discount rate (current service cost), end of preceding year 4.70% 4.70% 4.60% 4.60%
Discount rate (interest expense), end of preceding year 4.60% 4.60% 4.60% 4.60%
Rate of compensation increase’ 2.15% n.a 1.95% n.a
Inflation Rate 1.80% 2.00% 1.60% 2.00%
Weighted average duration of defined benefit obligation (years) 13 10 11 10

' As at December 31, 2025: 2.0% plus a productivity, merit and promotional scale, and as at December 31, 2024: 1.80% plus a productivity, merit and promotional scale.

For measurement purposes, actual per capita cost of covered medical care benefits was used for 2025, and the rate of increase was assumed at 6.09% for the next
5 years followed by a linear decrease to 3.57% by 2040 and to remain at that level thereafter. For dental care benefits, actual per capita cost was used for 2025, and the
rate of increase was assumed at 4.00% for the next 5 years followed by a linear decrease to 3.57% by 2040 and to remain at that level thereafter.

The following table shows how the defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2025 would have been affected by changes that were reasonably possible at that date
in each significant actuarial assumption:

Pension benefits Other benefits

Decrease of 0.25% in discount rate, end of year $ 6,122 $ 566
Increase of 0.25% in the inflation rate $ 3,135 $ -
Increase of 1% in health care cost trend rates n.a $ 1,251
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The net benefit plan costs included in the statements of income and other comprehensive income are comprised of the following components:

For the years ended December 31, 2025 2024
Note Pension benefits Other benefits Pension benefits  Other benefits
Current service cost’ $ 1,440 $ 1 1,500 $ 2
Administration costs’ 587 — 567 -
Service cost $ 2,027 $ 1 2,067 $ 2
Loss on settlement of annuity purchase $ 3,970 $ - 3 - $ —
Interest cost $ 14,288 $ 1,063 $ 19,963 $ 996
Interest income (13,675) - (19,484) —
Net interest on the net defined benefit obligation 6 $ 613 $ 1,063 $ 479 $ 996
Net benefit costs recognized in the statement of income $ 6,610 $ 1,064 $ 2546 $ 998
Actuarial losses (gains) recognized in OCI 9,701 (701) (2,460) 2,772
Total net benefit plan costs for the Yellow Pages (“YP”) defined benefit plans $ 16,311 $ 363 $ 86 $ 3,770
Net benefit plan costs for the YP defined contribution plans’ 1,540 - 1,708 —
Total net benefit plan costs $ 17,851 $ 363 $ 1,794  $ 3,770
" Included in operating costs.
No significant workforce reductions occurred during the years ended December 31, 2025 and 2024.
Plan assets are held in trust and the asset allocation was as follows as at December 31, 2025 and 2024:
As at December 31, (in percentages - %) 2025 2024
Fair value of the plan assets':
Pooled fund units
Canadian pooled fixed-income funds 26.8 68.6
Pooled real estate funds 26.9 12.2
Pooled private equity funds 25.9 10.9
Pooled infrastructure funds 20.1 8.0
Cash and cash equivalents 0.3 0.3

1 Excluding supplementary defined benefit pension plan assets.
As at December 31, 2025 and 2024, the publicly traded equity securities did not directly include any shares of Yellow Pages Limited.
Settlement loss on annuity purchase

On May 30, 2025, Yellow Pages Limited completed the purchase of group annuity contracts for $209.9 million from a Canadian insurer. The defined benefit pension plan
obligations for the group that are settled via the annuity purchase are $205.9 million. Under the agreement, the Canadian insurer has issued annuities covering the
responsibility for pension benefits owed to approximately 860 Yellow Pages pensioners and beneficiaries. The insurer began administering all pension benefits covered
by the group annuity in October 2025. Following the transaction, pension benefits for these annuitants are protected under Assuris, the life insurance compensation
association designated under the Insurance Companies Act of Canada.

For accounting purposes, this buy-out transaction essentially eliminates further legal or constructive obligation for pension benefits covered by the group annuity, and a
settlement occurred. As a result of this transaction, a non-cash settlement loss of $4.0 million was recognized during the second quarter of 2025.
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Pension contributions

In 2024, the company made the last voluntary payment of $6.0 million intended under the Deficit Reduction Plan. As a result of the Deficit Reduction Plan and the
advancement of the voluntary incremental cash contributions to the Pension Plan pursuant to the Plans of Arrangement in 2022 and 2023, the wind-up ratio was
approaching 100%. As a result, the Board approved a plan to derisk the Pension Plan and protect the realized investment gains and wind-up ratio, as described in the
investment risk section of the table above.

The total cash payments for pension and other benefit plans made by Yellow Pages Limited amounted to $7.9 million for 2025, including $2.0 million additional voluntary
cash contribution as the result of the annuity purchase (2024 - $12.0 million). Total cash payments for pension and other benefit plans expected in 2026 amount to
approximately $7.6 million, including the additional voluntary cash contribution.

Yellow Pages Limited’s funding policy is to make contributions to its pension plans based on various actuarial cost methods as permitted by pension regulatory bodies.
Yellow Pages Limited is responsible to adequately fund the plans. Contributions reflect actuarial assumptions concerning future investment returns, salary projections
and future service benefits.

In addition, Yellow Pages Limited recorded an expense for provincial, federal and state pension plans of $2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2025
(2024 — $2.2 million).

As at December 31, 2025, Yellow Pages Limited had recognized an accumulated balance of $31.1 million, net of income taxes of $9.3 million, in actuarial losses in OCI.

16. Capital Management

Yellow Pages Limited’s objective in managing capital is to ensure sufficient liquidity to cover financial obligations, investment requirements and to provide its shareholders
with appropriate returns. Yellow Pages Limited monitors its capital structure and makes adjustments based on the objectives described above in response to changes in
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets and the Company’s working capital requirements. This includes changes to the Company’s current
dividend policy. Yellow Pages Limited also uses various financial metrics to monitor its capital structure such as debt net of cash to total capitalization.

Yellow Pages Limited’s capital is comprised of Lease obligations and equity attributable to Yellow Pages Limited’s shareholders as follows:

As at December 31, Note 2025 2024
Cash $ 62,681 $ 44,204
Total debt (lease obligations, including current portion) 10 $ 36,135 $ 39,938
Equity 51,839 53,800
Total capitalization $ 87,974 $ 93,738
Total (cash net of debt) debt net of cash' $ (26,546) $ (4,266)
Total debt net of cash to total capitalization n.a n.a

" The term (cash net of debt) debt net of cash does not have a standardized meaning under IFRS Accounting Standards. Therefore, it is unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers. We
define (cash net of debt) debt net of cash as Lease obligations, including current portion, less cash, as shown in the Company’s consolidated statements of financial position.
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17. Shareholders’ capital

Common shares —lIssued

Number of Shares Amount
Balance, December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2024 13,752,770 $ 95,087
Shares issued under stock option plan 5,890 65
Balance, December 31, 2025 13,758,660 $ 95,152

Yellow Pages is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares.

The holders of the common shares of Yellow Pages are entitled to one vote per common share at all meetings of shareholders of the Company. The holders of the
common shares of Yellow Pages are entitled to receive any dividend declared by the Board of the Company on the common shares. In the event of the liquidation,
dissolution or winding-up of Yellow Pages, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of the common shares of Yellow Pages are entitled to receive, after payment of
all liabilities of Yellow Pages and subject to the preferential rights of any class of shares of Yellow Pages ranking in priority to the common shares of Yellow Pages, the
remaining assets and property of Yellow Pages.

The total number of common shares of Yellow Pages Limited held by the trustee for the purpose of funding the restricted share unit and performance share unit plan
(the “RSU and PSU Plan”) amounted to 190,001 as at December 31, 2025 (see Note 18 Stock-based compensation plans for additional details).

Under the Stock Option Plan, the maximum number of common shares authorized for issuance upon the exercise of options is 2,806,932 (see Note 18 Stock-based
compensation plans for additional details). During the year ended December 31, 2025, 5,890 common shares were issued upon the exercise of options.

Dividends

On February 13, 2024, the Board modified its dividend policy of paying a quarterly cash dividend to its common shareholders by increasing the dividend from $0.20 per
share to $0.25 per share. YP’s dividend payout policy and the declaration of dividends on any of the Company’s outstanding common shares are subject to the discretion
of the Board and, consequently, there can be no guarantee that the dividend payout policy will be maintained or that dividends will be declared.

During the year ended December 31, 2025, the Company paid quarterly dividends of $0.25 per common share on March 17, June 16, September 15, and
December 15, 2025 for a total consideration of $13.6 million to common shareholders. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company paid quarterly dividends
of $0.25 per common share on March 15, June 17, September 16, and December 16, of 2024 for a total consideration of $13.6 million to common shareholders.

Income per share

The following table presents the weighted average number of shares outstanding used in computing income per share and the weighted average number of shares
outstanding used in computing diluted income per share as well as net income used in the computation of basic income per share to net income adjusted for any dilutive
effect:

For the years ended December 31, 2025 2024
Weighted average number of shares outstanding used in computing basic income per share’ 13,565,962 13,559,143
Dilutive effect of restricted share units 190,519 193,627
Dilutive effect of stock options 10,907 -
Weighted average number of shares outstanding used in computing diluted income per share' 13,767,388 13,752,770

' The weighted average number of shares outstanding used in the income per share calculation is reduced by the shares held by the trustee for the purpose of funding the RSU and PSU Plan.
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For the years ended December 31, 2025 2024
Net income used in the computation of basic income per share $ 18,107 $ 24,977
Impact of assumed conversion of stock options, net of applicable taxes (43) -
Total net income used in the computation of diluted income per share $ 18,064 $ 24,977

For the year ended December 31, 2025 and 2024, the diluted income per share calculation did not take into consideration the potential dilutive effect of stock options
that are not in the money and therefore not dilutive.

18. Stock-based compensation plans

Yellow Pages Limited’s stock-based compensation plans consist of restricted share units, performance share units, deferred share units, stock options and share
appreciation rights.

Restricted Share Unit and Performance Share Unit Plan

Participants are granted a certain number of RSUs and PSUs, as applicable, for a given performance period. Dividends in the form of additional RSUs are credited to
the Participant’s account on each dividend payment date and are equivalent in value to the dividend paid on common shares. The RSUs are time-based awards and
vest upon the continuous employment of the Participants for a period of 36 months starting from the date of the grant or such other period not exceeding 36 months
determined by the Board. The PSUs are performance-based awards and will vest upon confirmation by the Board of the achievement of specified performance targets
and upon the continuous employment of the Participants for a period of 36 months starting from the date of the grant or such other period not exceeding 36 months
determined by the Board. The PSUs for which the performance targets have not been achieved shall automatically be forfeited and cancelled. The number of PSUs that
vest could potentially reach up to one-and-a-half times the actual number of PSUs awarded if the actual performance reaches the maximum level of performance targets.

On April 18, 2023, a modification to the RSU and PSU Plan, adding a cash alternative at the Participant’s option to the settlement of all unvested RSUs and PSUs
outstanding as of such date and all grants subsequent to such date, resulting in an obligation to settle in cash. A reclass from equity to liability was recorded at the
modification date, based on the fair value of the unvested RSUs outstanding as of such date. The variation due to change in fair value subsequent to the modification
date is included in operating costs.

The total number of common shares of Yellow Pages Limited held by the trustee for the purpose of funding the RSU and PSU Plan amounted to 190,001 as at
December 31, 2025. There were no PSUs outstanding as at December 31, 2025 and 2024.
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The following table summarizes the continuity of the RSUs during the years ended December 31:

2025 2024
Number of RSUs Liability' Number of RSUs Liability’
Outstanding, beginning of year 333,537 $ 2,597 349,405 $ 1,752
Granted? 116,944 577 26,726 71
Dividends credited® 30,328 493 33,985 252
RSUs reclassified from equity-settled to cash settled (2,451) 54 (1,574) 158
Settled (156,621) (1,748) (72,884) (681)
Forfeited (6,682) (42) (2,121) -
Variation due to change in fair value and vesting - 666 — 1,045
Outstanding, end of year* 315,055 $ 2,597 333,537 $ 2,597
Weighted average remaining life (-years) 0.64 0.86

The liability related to the RSUs is recorded in trade and other payables, and the expense related to the vested RSUs and the variation due to change in fair value are included in operating costs.
The liability related to the RSUs granted represents the portion that is vested as at December 31.

Dividends in the form of additional RSUs are credited to the Participant’s account on each dividend payment date and are equivalent in value to the dividend paid on common shares.

The number of restricted shares vested as of December 31, 2025 is 235,547 (2024 — 219,124).149,252 of the vested shares were settled on January 16, 2026 for $1.7 million.

Deferred Share Unit Plan

During the fourth quarter of 2024, the Board approved the termination and liquidation of the deferred share unit plan (the "DSU plan”), effective as of
December 16, 2024, and the payment of all accrued benefits so that such amounts are payable in lump sum to the Participants. Pursuant to the DSU plan, each
Participant was entitled to a lump sum cash payment equal to the number of DSUs credited to the Participant’s account multiplied by the VWAP of YP’s common share
for the five trading days immediately preceding the effective termination date. As of December 31, 2025, $1.4 million remains payable and is included in Trade and other
payables (December 31, 2024 - $2.4 million). The Company paid the $1.4 million outstanding balance during January 2026.

1
2
3
4

Stock options

Yellow Pages Limited’s stock option plan (the “Stock Option Plan”) provides incentive compensation to Participants who are in a position to make a material contribution
to the successful operation of the business and to more closely align the interests of management with those of shareholders of Yellow Pages Limited. The Stock Options
are time-based awards and will vest upon the continuous employment of the Participants at a date determined by the Board. Pursuant to the terms of the Stock Option
Plan, upon vesting, stock options granted may be settled in cash or equity at the Company’s option or as contracted. Further, the Stock Option Plan, subject to approval
of the Board or the Human Resources and Compensation Committee at the time of exercise, allows an option holder to elect to surrender an exercisable option for
cancellation in exchange for a cash payment equal to the amount by which the fair market value of the share on the date of surrender exceeds the exercise price. The
underlying shares in respect of the surrendered option will be added back to the plan reserve.

The Stock Option Plan insider participation limits and the maximum number of shares issuable to one person is 10% of the issued and outstanding shares. In addition,
the Stock Option Plan provides that any shares repurchased by the Company for cancellation will not constitute non-compliance with these limits for any options
outstanding prior to such purchase of Shares for cancellation. The Stock Option Plan also provides the Board discretion to amend the exercise price of Options in certain
dividend events (other than any ordinary course dividend), subject to TSX approval.

A maximum of 2,806,932 stock options may be granted under the Stock Option Plan. Participants are required to hold 25% of the common shares received pursuant to
the exercise of the stock options until the Participants meet the ownership guidelines which apply to their respective position.
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The following table summarizes the continuity of the stock options presented as a liability during the years ended December 31:

2025 2024
Number of options Liability’ Number of options Liability"
Outstanding, beginning of year 2,020,826 $ 907 1,608,066 $ 397
Granted - - 895,945 209
Stock options reclassified from equity-settled to cash settled? - - - 28
Exercised (5,890) (3) - -
Settled (212,195) (133) - -
Forfeited and cancelled (1,221,279) (277) (483,185) (27)
Variation due to change in fair value and vesting — (215) — 300
Outstanding, end of year® 581,462 $ 279 2,020,826 $ 907
L
' The liability related to the stock options is recorded in trade and other payables, and the expense related to the vested options and the variation due to change in fair value are included in operating costs.
2 The number of stock options is net of stock options exercised and forfeited.
3 The number of stock options vested as of December 31, 2025 is 459,111 (2024 — 1,369,249).
The following table summarizes the continuity of all stock options under the Stock Option Plan, during the year ended December 31:
2025 2024

Weighted average
exercise price per option

Number of options

Weighted average

Number of options  exercise price per option

Outstanding, beginning of year 2,020,826 $ 12.27 1,608,066 $ 13.44
Granted - $ - 895,945 $ 10.60
Exercised (5,890) $ 10.60 - $ -
Settled (212,195) $ 10.60 - $ -
Forfeited and cancelled (1,221,279) $ 13.45 (483,185) $ 13.07
Outstanding, end of year 581,462 $ 11.81 2,020,826 $ 12.27
Exercisable, end of year - $ - 266,431 $ 12.72
The following table provides additional information about Yellow Pages Limited’s Stock Option Plan as at December 31:

2025 2024

Number of options

Exercise price outstanding

Weighted average
remaining life

Number of options
outstanding

Weighted average
remaining life

$10.60 386,071 14 872,382 1.9
$12.25 6,123 1.0 9,184 1.6
$12.72 - - 532,862 1.0
$14.27 189,268 14 406,110 1.3
$14.30 - - 200,288 0.6
Outstanding, end of year 581,462 1.1 2,020,826 1.4
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The following table shows the key assumptions used in applying the valuation model for stock options as at December 31:

2024
Weighted average grant date share price $ 10.60
Weighted average exercise price $ 10.60
Volatility 22.45%
Expected life (years) 2.7
Dividend yield 9.85%
Risk-free interest rate 4.32%

Share appreciation rights plan

On September 15, 2017, Yellow Pages Limited adopted a share appreciation rights plan (the “SAR Plan”) to provide incentive compensation to Participants who are in
a position to make a material contribution to the successful operation of the business and to more closely align the interests of management with those of shareholders
of Yellow Pages Limited. The SARs are time-based awards and vest upon the continuous employment of the Participants at a date determined by the Board. Pursuant
to the terms of the SAR Plan, the Participants will receive, upon vesting of the SARs, a payment in cash representing the excess of the fair value of Yellow Pages
Limited’s shares on the vesting date less the fair value of Yellow Pages Limited’'s shares on the grant date.

The following table summarizes the continuity of the share appreciation rights (“SARs”) during the year ended December 31:

2025 2024

Number of SARs Liability’ Number of SARs Liability'

Outstanding, beginning of year 643,627 $ 343 584,018 $ 169

Granted 2,739,232 664 351,618 91

Settled (87,904) (54) - -

Forfeited and cancelled (998,391) (59) (292,009) -

Variation due to change in fair value and vesting - (64) — 83

Outstanding, end of year? 2,296,564 $ 830 643,627 $ 343
L

' The liability related to the SAR Plan is recorded in trade and other payables, and the expense related to the units vested and the variation due to change in fair value are included in operating costs.
2 The number of SARs vested as of December 31, 2025 is 1,067,374 (2024 — 399,194).

The following table shows the key assumptions used in applying the valuation model for the SARs as at December 31:

2025 2024
Weighted average grant date share price $ 11.19 $ 10.60
Exercise price $ 11.19 $ 10.60
Expected volatility 24.06% 22.45%
Expected life (years) 2.2 years 2.7 years
Risk-free interest rate 2.80% 4.32%
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The following amounts for stock-based compensation are recorded in the consolidated statements of income in operating costs:

For the years ended December 31, 2025 2024
RSU plan $ 1,791 $ 1,561
DSU plan - 284
Stock Options (492) 505
SARs 541 174
Total expense $ 1,840 $ 2,524

19. Commitments and contingencies

a) As at December 31, 2025, Yellow Pages Limited has commitments under purchase and service contract obligations for both operating and capital expenditures for
each of the next 5 years and thereafter, and in the aggregate of:

Total commitments

2026 $ 21,059
2027 17,472
2028 13,626
2029 9,776
2030 7,166
Thereafter 15,764

$ 84,863

b) Yellow Pages Limited has three billing and collection services agreements. The agreement with Bell expires on December 31, 2026, and the agreement with
Northwestel Inc., an affiliate of Bell, expires on November 29, 2032. The agreement with TELUS expires in 2031.

The Company also has agreements with Bell and TELUS, providing for the use of listing information and trademarks for the publications of directories. If the Company
materially fails to perform its obligations under these agreements and as a result these publication agreements are terminated in accordance with their terms, these other
listing information and trademark licenses with Bell and TELUS, as the case may be, may also be terminated. These agreements with Bell and TELUS will terminate
between 2031 and 2037.

c) Yellow Pages Limited entered into directory printing agreements with its printing suppliers to print, bind and furnish alphabetical, classified and combined directories
as well as other publications. It also entered into distribution agreements.

d) Yellow Pages Limited is subject to various claims and proceedings which have been instituted against it during the normal course of business for which certain of the
claims are provided for and included in trade and other payables, and provisions based on management’s best estimate of the likelihood of the outcome. Management
believes that the disposition of the matters pending or asserted is not expected to have any material adverse effect on the financial position, financial performance or
cash flows of Yellow Pages Limited.

20. Guarantees

In the normal course of operations, Yellow Pages Limited has entered into agreements which are customary in the industry that provide for indemnifications and
guarantees to counterparties in transactions involving business acquisitions, business dispositions and sale of assets. Yellow Pages Limited has entered into agreements
which contain indemnification of its directors and officers indemnifying them against expenses (including legal fees), judgments, fines and any amount actually and
reasonably incurred by them in connection with any action, suit or proceeding in which the directors and/or officers are sued as a result of their service, if they acted
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honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of Yellow Pages Limited. Yellow Pages Limited benefits from directors’ and officers’ liability insurance which
it has purchased. No amount has been accrued in the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2025 and 2024 with respect to these indemnities.

The nature of these guarantees prevents Yellow Pages Limited from making a reasonable estimate of the maximum potential amount it could be required to pay to
counterparties.

21. List of subsidiaries

Principal activity Proportion of ownership
As at December 31, 2025 2024
Canada
Yellow Pages Digital & Media Solutions Limited Digital and print media marketing solutions provider 100% 100%
USA
YPG (USA) Holdings, Inc. Holding company 100% 100%
Yellow Pages Digital & Media Solutions, LLC Operational support services provider 100% 100%

22. Related party transactions
Key management personnel compensation

Yellow Pages Limited’s key management personnel have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the Company’s activities and consist of
Yellow Pages Limited’s executive team and the members of the Board.

Total compensation expense for key management personnel included in the consolidated income statements, and the composition thereof, is as follows:

For the years ended December 31, 2025 2024
Salary, Board fees and short-term incentive plans $ 5,253 $ 5,070
Post-employment benefits M7 54
Share-based compensation expense, including share price revaluation 1,126 2,209
Termination benefits 1,333 -
All other compensation 876 1,294

$ 9,305 $ 8,627
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